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EX PARTE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY ATTORNEYS PIERRE RODNUNSKY AND ALLISON LOEVNER 
AND PIERRE RODNUNSKY AND ASSOCIATES, LEGAL REPRESNTATIVES FOR THE DEFENDANT, 
KAREN M. ROPER FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS: ATTORNEY AS WITNESS, MORAL TURPITUDE, 
ORCHESTRATING AN ILLEGAL LITIGATION IN BAD FAITH, OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE AND FRAUD 
ON THE COURT FOR, PERSONAL GAIN, IN COLLUSION WITH AND/OR ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEE, 
KAREN ROPER FOR HER PERSONAL GAIN. - 1 

Kelly (Tawny) Gage, PRO SE 
 

  

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

STANLEY MOSK COURTHOUSE 

111 NORTH HILL STREET, LOS ANGELES, CA 90012 

IN THE MATTER OF CARL M. GAGE LIVING TRUST 

KELLY TAWNY MARIE GAGE, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

KAREN ROPER, TRUSTEE FOR THE CARL M GAGE 
LIVING TRUST  

Defendant 

Case No.: 18STPB03846 

EX PARTE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY ATTORNEYS 
PIERRE RODNUNSKY AND ALLISON LOEVNER AND 
PIERRE RODNUNSKY AND ASSOCIATES, LEGAL 
REPRESNTATIVES FOR THE DEFENDANT, KAREN 
M. ROPER FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS: 
ATTORNEY AS WITNESS, MORAL TURPITUDE, 
ORCHESTRATING AN ILLEGAL LITIGATION IN BAD 
FAITH, OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE AND FRAUD ON 
THE COURT FOR, PERSONAL GAIN, IN COLLUSION 
WITH AND/OR ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEE, 
KAREN ROPER FOR HER PERSONAL GAIN. 

 
EX PARTE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY PIERRE RODNUNSKY AND ALLISON LOEVNER 

AND PIERRE RODNUNSKY AND ASSOCIATES, ATTORNEYS FOR THE DEFENDANT 

Dated this 22 of DECEMBER, 2020 

TAWNY GAGE PRO SE 
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Motion to disqualify opposing attorney Pierre Rodnunsky and Allison Loevner, 

as Officers of the Court and current legal representation on court record for 

the defendant, Trustee, Karen Roper, and the legal firm, Pierre Rodnunsky and 

Associates (heretofore referred to as PRA) for the following reasons, 

including but not limited to, Attorney as Witness, Gross Misconduct, Gross 

Negligence, Moral Turpitude, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Assisting the Trustee, 

Karen Roper in theft of non-trust and trust assets, defrauding the 

Beneficiary, Kelly Tawny-Marie Gage, (heretofore referred to as Tawny Gage) a 

disabled beneficiary with brain trauma under the trustor’s custodial care at 

time of death , Fraud on the Carl Gage Trust , knowingly orchestrating an 

illegal litigation in bad faith, Abuse of Court, Abuse of discovery, 

Obstruction of justice and FRAUD ON THE COURT for personal gain in collusion 

with and/or on behalf of the Trustee, Karen Roper for her personal gain. 

 

Factual Evidence that Tawny Gage is disabled from brain trauma and was under 

the custodial care of her father, Carl Gage, the trustor, at the time of 

death and is still disabled by verification of the Federal Social Security 

Disability Dept. 

EXHIBIT 1 shows documentation from Tawny Gage’s Neurologist as well as 

official notification of her disability status from the Social Security 

Office that Tawny Gage, has brain trauma from a hemorrhagic stroke and was 

under the custodial care of her father, Carl M. Gage, the trustor, at the 

time of his death. EXHIBIT 2 shows that Karen Roper, the successor trustee 

upon the death of the Trustor, Carl Gage, was aware of Tawny Gage’s existing 

brain trauma and disability status and that Tawny Gage was under the 

Trustor’s custodial care prior to and at the time of his death on March 24, 

2017.  Karen Roper was also aware that the Trustor was supplementing Tawny 

Gage’s fixed disability income with $100.00 per month to cover her bills.  

EXHIBIT 3 shows that Pierre Rodnunsky was aware of the beneficiary’s brain 
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trauma and existing disability status through the Trustee, Karen Roper’s 

proven advisement in this motion, as well as personal notification in writing 

directly to PRA from the beneficiary, Tawny Gage in (Exhibit 3) forwarded 

during administration in an ignored plea for expected care of the 

beneficiary.   

Summary 

All attorneys involved in this case, for the plaintiff and the defendant, are 

aware of the evidence provided above and below and are aware and are expected 

to be aware, that all of the evidence that proves Pierre Rodnunsky and 

Allison Loevner’s criminal acts upon the trust and the Court are already in 

the Court’s possession and have refused to protect the beneficiary or to 

protect the Courts for their own personal benefit, by remaining silent 

regarding the Fraud on the Court, knowing Pierre Rodnunsky was the 

administrator of the trust on behalf of the trustee and was therefore, and by 

extensive communications by PRA during administrations, was the only witness 

in all matters of this litigation and pending trial.  The trustee refused to 

speak to me directly or be in my presence for the entire administration. 

 

Please understand my lack of ability to write a proper motion or understand 

or retain the details of the court rules myself.  However, both attorneys 

that represented the beneficiary Tawny Gage, in this case, refused to advise 

the court that the documents provided in the motions submitted by PRA and the 

defendant to the court literally prove the violations of law and the 

Professional ethics codes that disqualify PRA according to the laws of 

California.  Both attorneys are aware that Pierre Rodnunsky directly lied to 

the Court to hide these facts and refused to advise the court.   

No attorney will take my case after seeing the provided evidence in this 

motion that shows collusion to defraud the court and obstruct justice by 

several officers of the court and do not want to get involved.   
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The opposing attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky was delegated the duty to administer 

the trust on behalf of the trustee and as the “First and Last Accounting” 

plainly shows in the body, was paid $71,161.46 directly from the trust to do 

so.  The trust explicitly prohibits the delegation of administration of the 

trust by the trustee.  It also specifically prohibits the payment of 

litigation by the trust, for intentional breach of duty in bad faith.  Pierre 

Rodnunsky misrepresented his attorney fees as $17,652.15 on the preface of 

the Accounting and on court notes and also listed the trustee’s fees at 

$9203.47, the maximum amount allowed by law to also pay the trustee for the 

administration of the trust.    

Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA were my only contacts during administration of the 

trust and the letters that prove that PRA was the main place of 

administration and only contact are included in the “petition to force the 

trustee to account” though my attorney, Pete Grossman said nothing about his 

administration being illegal and a breach of fiduciary duty or did he advise 

the court of the illegal litigation, the misrepresentation of attorney fees 

on the First and Last Accounting or court notes or the extensive illegalities 

of the Accounting, prepared by Pierre Rodnunsky that required a court order 

to uphold the laws he is bound by and obligated to uphold with integrity and 

complete honesty.   

 

Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA were still administering the trust on behalf of the 

trustee when he refused to account to me and my attorney of record, Pete 

Grossman, knowing that the law specifically states on probate code 16062 e) 

Any limitation or waiver in a trust instrument of the obligation to account 

is against public policy and shall be void.  By his acceptance of 

administration of the trust, he is the one obligated to in fact provide an 

accounting to the beneficiary. 
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When an attorney is administering a trust on behalf of a trustee, he has a 

duty to protect the trust and is under obligation to uphold the fiduciary 

duty of the trust.  The argument can be made that the beneficiaries of the 

trust are in fact his clients by extension.  Instead, Pierre Rodnunsky 

advised me to get my own counsel at the beginning of the administration, when 

he withheld the trust information and existence of the trust as well as 

keeping it from me for the max amount of time allowed by law, which is to be 

used when a trustee does not know the beneficiary or the beneficiary’s 

location.  They used this law to their advantage to keep the trust from the 

Trustor’s only next of kin. They have manipulated the laws to cause confusion 

and blur the lines of responsibility and to intentionally defraud the court 

in bad faith while using the illegal litigation to defraud the trust further 

directly under the supervision of the court.  

 

Pierre Rodnunsky advised me he was a neutral party and would distribute the 

trust according to the trust terms.  No trust attorney hired by me, prior to 

or during litigation advised me that Pierre Rodnunsky was intentionally 

breaking the law by administrating the trust on behalf of the trustee and 

Pierre Rodnunsky successfully hid that fact from the Court, while including 

all evidence directly in the body of his motions, while misleading the court 

as to what was attached, knowing that the courts depend on the integrity and 

laws that govern the officers of the court to be forthcoming and honest, but 

was able to hide his illegal acts with the assistance of attorneys for the 

plaintiff.     

 

Pierre Rodnunsky and his non-attorney staff had full access and control of 

trust assets without trustee supervision or monitor.  PRA also was very 

involved in the sale of the real property and took a payment directly from 

the sale of the property, included in escrow expenses as seen directly in the 
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accounting provided to the court. Pierre Rodnunsky had the key to the 

property and valuable trust assets as shown in the trustee’s reimbursements 

showing a fedex charge of $36.00 to mail the key directly to non-attorney 

staff at PRA at the beginning of administration. 

 

Pierre Rodnunsky and the trustee allowed 2 non-attorney personnel from his 

office to solely supervise the move of the trust property prior to any 

complete inventory taking place and were the only persons that made the 

supposed distributions without documentation of any kind.  Neither the 

trustee nor Pierre Rodnunsky were present at the time of any distributions or 

the moving and packing of the trust assets.  The extent of Pierre Rodnunsky 

and PRA’s intentional illegal administration and intentional criminal acts 

and those of my attorneys before and during litigation is available to the 

court and/or criminal prosecutor, in great detail as all of my communications 

are on email form as I have much trouble communicating verbally in addition 

to the need to read and re-read things for a clear understanding and later 

became necessary for evidence of the outrageous lies and obstruction of 

justice by the attorneys involved.  

  

Again, I am disabled from brain trauma and needed assistance with the writing 

of this motion from non-attorney associates to provide complete sentences, 

proper grammar and correct spelling as to spare the court my normal 

nonsensical writing and repetitive information because I cannot remember what 

I wrote on the paragraph or page before, thus making this extremely 

challenging for me, to understate the difficulty and time it took to gather 

evidence that has been submitted to the court already that clearly proves 

this motion. Therefore, as I understand the information provided is 

undisputed evidence for the Court, because the evidence and testimony has 

been provided by PRA and their attorneys themselves.  



 

7 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

However, the false information provided to the Court by them was continually 

pleaded by me with my attorneys to correct for the court record as well as 

pleas to advise the court that the opposing attorney was the only witness 

once I was able to find this information in the laws, but I was told by Matt 

Stidham that the false information provided by the attorney about the extent 

of his role in the administration and a witness, was a matter for trial, also 

on an email communication.  A trial that was intended to never happen by the 

colluded efforts of the officers of the court in their attempt to frustrate 

me and literally caused me to be bankrupt, therefore preventing any 

acceptance of their responsibilities and preventing justice for the 

beneficiary.   

 

Again, not one trust attorney would agree to inform the court of this illegal 

litigation in bad faith and inform the court of the deliberate criminal acts 

of fraud by Pierre Rodnunsky and the trustee, and not one attorney would take 

my case after seeing the evidence of fraud by officers of the court.  

However, many told me that the information must be provided to the court 

immediately, though they all refused to take my case.  Matt Stidham advised 

me on email that he was not obligated to advise the court of the illegal 

orchestration of the litigation, that PRA was my only contact during 

administration and had complete access to the trust assets, was the only 

witness for alleged distributions, accepted responsibility for all non-

delegable duties of the trustee and that the court had intentionally 

incorrect information regarding the attorney’s fees and advised me that it 

was a matter for trial.  This is evident by his failure to advise the court 

of any of these matters to date.  Pete Grossman and Neda Firouzi also had 

this information, all are expected to have this information and all were 

required to advise the Court of criminal actions occurring by another officer 

of the court.   
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 Therefore, I beg for the court’s understanding of my condition that prevents 

focus, causes temporary memory loss and temporary confusion during extreme 

stress, inhibits effective verbal and written communication and is the reason 

I cannot represent myself effectively.   

Also please note that the Court denies any self-help to self-represented 

litigants in trust litigation and all other law assistance groups follow the 

courts lead on that decision.  Though self-help is available to every other 

self-represented litigant in every other court but the Probate court.  The 

use of the law library is of little help to a person who cannot focus or 

retain information and the pandemic has done me no favors.  

   

The information provided in the motion evidence below is mostly in the 

court’s possession already and has taken me months to somewhat effectively 

review and re-review several times a day and months to write and re-rewrite 

the information I have now been able to provide to the court myself, because 

no attorney would do it for me.   

 

However, I do not know the legality of providing information to the court not 

yet proven, but I am following the lead of the opposing attorney to provide 

emails directly from PRA and the trustee to and from the beneficiary and to 

and from other attorneys that have been accepted in his motions previously.  

Though one email he claims came from me but has no email heading or any 

evidence as coming from me, and did in fact not come from me, on the 164 page 

objection to the emergency request to force the trustee to distribute, and I 

advised my attorneys of record on more than one occasion that it did not come 

from me, yet no attorney agreed to remove the untruthful testimony provided 

by the attorney and trustee, from the record.  I have only provided proof of 

emails with attached headings coming directly from and to the people of 

record, provided to show the direct intentions and additional acts of fraud 
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by Pierre Rodnunsky and his firm, the trustee and also proves the attorneys 

of record are in fact directly involved in corruption of the court and 

obstruction of justice for personal gain, and that they intentionally hid the 

illegal crimes of Pierre Rodnunsky, PRA and the trustee from the Tribunal.   

 

The Trustee, Karen Roper, has not distributed any monetary distributions or 

any items of monetary value or sentimental value to the beneficiary, Tawny 

Gage since the date of death, March 24, 2017, almost four years after death.  

This is evident on the “First and Final Account and Report of Trustee” court 

document number 1755665841, submitted to the Court under a Court Order, on 

October 4, 2018 by Pierre Rodnunsky, the attorney representing the defendant, 

Karen Roper as Trustee of the Carl M. Gage Trust.   

The Trustee, Karen Roper is not related to the trustor by blood or marriage.  

The beneficiary, Tawny Gage is the only child of the trustor and was under 

his custodial care at the time of death. 

The trustor was an unmarried man, living alone at the time of death. The 

First and Final Account on page 26 article 1.1 and 1.2  

 

The complete copy of the Carl Gage Trust is included on pages 17-77 in the 

First and Final Accounting 

 

Proof that the attorney for the defendant is the only witness in this 

litigation by his own design and is guilty of illegal acts against the trust, 

the disabled beneficiary and the Court, on behalf of the trustee to defraud 

the trust and the beneficiary, by taking advantage of her disability and 

inability to protect herself, to successfully defraud her and the trust, with 

the assistance of attorneys for the beneficiary deliberately colluding with 

PRA and the trustee for their own benefit.   
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Attorney as Witness 

1. Attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky of PRA was knowingly illegally hired by the 

trustee, Karen Roper, to administrate the Carl Gage Trust, on Karen 

Roper’s (trustee) behalf, and the act was known to both as being in 

direct fiduciary breach to the trust, illegal and carried out at GREAT 

cost to the Carl Gage Trust and his only child, Tawny Gage.   

 

The attached EXHIBIT 5 shows that Pierre Rodnunsky advised the decedent's 

only child, Tawny Gage on April 18, 2017, prior to releasing the trust 

documents to the beneficiary, that he was in fact hired to administrate Carl 

Gage’s Estate on behalf of Karen Roper, despite the trust instructions that 

prohibit the trustee from delegating administration or her trustee duties.  

EXHIBIT 6 shows additional emails from PRA for further evidence that the 

administration of the trust was in fact being handled by PRA on the Trustees 

behalf, also advised to two separate attorneys hired by the beneficiary, 

Tawny Gage, during administration of the trust and prior to the litigation.  

Both attorneys refused to prevent the known or expected to be known 

violations of the law being committed by PRA that was known to be a criminal 

act.   

a. The Trust specifically prohibits trustee delegation of trustee duties 

as in accordance with the Laws of California  

 

(In The First and Final Accounting on page 45) The trust specifically states 

in section 13.19 that “the trustee may hire agents to advise or assist the 

Trustee in the performance of his or her duties and obligations.  The Trustee 

may grant discretionary authority to such persons but MAY NOT delegate either 

the administration of the trust or acts that are not delegable except as 

expressly provided in this declaration of trust.”  
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(In the First and Final Accountng page 57) The trust states in Section 19.1, 

under definitions states that “Administer to mean: to hold, manage, 

administer, allocate and distribute.”  

Probate code 16012. 

(a) The trustee has a duty not to delegate to others the performance of acts 

that the trustee can reasonably be required personally to perform and may not 

transfer the office of trustee to another person nor delegate the entire 

administration of the trust to a cotrustee or other person. 

(b) In a case where a trustee has properly delegated a matter to an agent, 

cotrustee, or other person, the trustee has a duty to exercise general 

supervision over the person performing the delegated matter. 

Cal. Prob. Code §381 

The trustee shall adhere to the words of the trust and attorney must act 

within the fiduciary duty when administrating a trust. Section 381. (Enacted 

by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79.) 

Cal. Prob. Code §16000. 

The right of delegation does not exist to the extent the court determines 

that powers to be delegated are purely personal to the original fiduciary. 

 

 Pierre Radnunsky’s disregard for the law by informing the Beneficiary of his 

(now known by the beneficiary to be illegal) administration, documenting that 

he was unclear about the exact document that allowed him to administrate the 

estate or allowed Karen Roper, a friend not related by blood or marriage to 

the trustor, her authority to have taken illegal confiscation of the body or 

the estate and allowed her to delegate administration of the estate at the 

expense of the estate, though as a specialized trust attorney knows or is 

expected to know that the delegation of administration is illegal according 

the the trust terms and the laws of California.  
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Additionally only much later did Pierre Rodnunsky send the (incomplete) copy 

of the trust, a non-delegable duty of the Trustee, and further exploited his 

disrespect for the law by hiding the existence of the trust, refusing to give 

a full copy of the trust and withholding the entire trust for 60 days after 

death, (Exhibit 5) after many requests for production of the document to 

Karen Roper, beginning two days after death, was denied by her as shown in 

EXHIBIT 7, and also withholding the existence of any Trust by insinuating 

that the documents held by her was a will.   

   

b. In the First and Final Accounting prepared, by Pierre Rodnunsky, he 

includes an acceptance of Trusteeship by Karen Roper dated April 18, 

2017 on page 79.  He also includes another acceptance of Trusteeship 

dated October 04, 2018 on page 15 .     

 

The acceptance of Trusteeship on April 18, 2017 proves that the attorney was 

intentionally deceptive in his email also dated April 18, 2017 to the 

beneficiary, Tawny Gage on (Exhibit 5) where he withholds the existence of 

the trust by claiming he does not know the name of or date of the document 

that he has been hired by Karen Roper to administrate.  In response to the 

repeated inquiries by Tawny Gage requesting the name and date of the estate 

document he was administrating, Pierre Rodnunsky replied on April 19, 2017  

also on (Exhibit 5), “I have estate planning documents, wills, trusts and 

amendments” and “I have not had the chance to be sure I have complete 

documents and will be able to review them next week” and  “ I am reviewing 

all of the estate documents and determining the nature of the assets” all 

included in (Exhibit 5), all written after the acceptance of the trusteeship 

by Karen Roper on April 18, 2017.   These deliberate acts of deception by 

Pierre Rodnunsky clearly document his willing and active involvement, in 

violation of California trust laws, criminal laws and the professional ethics 
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codes of California, from the beginning of his involvement, intended to 

defraud the Trust and the beneficiary in collusion with the Trustee, Karen 

Roper.     

 

In Pierre’s email (Exhibit 5) he also stated to Tawny Gage that he was a 

neutral party, that he wanted to distribute the trust quickly and according 

to the trust.  He also refers to the trustee as his client and advises the 

beneficiary to get her own counsel if she should have any further questions.  

As a specialized trust attorney administering the trust on behalf of the 

Trustee, he has an obligation to the fiduciary duties of the Trust which 

means he has a fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries and to protect the trust 

and it’s intentions according to the trust laws of California.  It can also 

be argued that the beneficiaries are his clients by extension.   

 

c. Pierre Rodnunsky further disregards the basic trust laws by omitting 

the Trustee’s address or phone number, who lives in Ventura County as 

well as the trustor that lived in Ventura County at the time of death, 

when he gave only the PRA office address, phone number and email as the 

contact for the main place of administration of the trust and only 

contact for the beneficiary in direct violation with the laws of 

California. EXHIBIT 8.  (This information was taken directly from the 

court submitted petiton to instruct trustee to account on court 

document number 1736623492 on Exhibit 6 on pages 67-70) 

Probate code 16061.7. (a) A trustee shall serve a notification by the trustee 

as described in this section in the following events: 

(1) When a revocable trust or any portion thereof becomes irrevocable because 

of the death of one or more of the settlors of the trust, or because, by the 

express terms of the trust, the trust becomes irrevocable within one year of 
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the death of a settlor because of a contingency related to the death of one 

or more of the settlors of the trust. 

(2) Whenever there is a change of trustee of an irrevocable trust. 

(3) Whenever a power of appointment retained by a settlor is effective or 

lapses upon death of the settlor with respect to an inter vivos trust which 

was, or was purported to be, irrevocable upon its creation. This paragraph 

shall not apply to a charitable remainder trust. For purposes of this 

paragraph, charitable remainder trust means a charitable remainder annuity 

trust or charitable remainder unitrust as defined in Section 664(d) of the 

Internal Revenue Code. 

(4) The duty to serve the notification by the trustee pursuant to this 

subdivision is the duty of the continuing or successor trustee, and any one 

cotrustee may serve the notification. 

(b) The notification by the trustee required by subdivision (a) shall be 

served on each of the following: 

(1) Each beneficiary of the irrevocable trust or irrevocable portion of the 

trust, subject to the limitations of Section 15804. 

(2) Each heir of the deceased settlor, if the event that requires 

notification is the death of a settlor or irrevocability within one year of 

the death of the settlor of the trust by the express terms of the trust 

because of a contingency related to the death of a settlor. 

(3) If the trust is a charitable trust subject to the supervision of the 

Attorney General, to the Attorney General. 

(c) A trustee shall, for purposes of this section, rely upon any final 

judicial determination of heirship, known to the trustee, but the trustee 

shall have discretion to make a good faith determination by any reasonable 

means of the heirs of a deceased settlor in the absence of a final judicial 

determination of heirship known to the trustee. 
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(d) The trustee need not provide a copy of the notification by trustee to any 

beneficiary or heir (1) known to the trustee but who cannot be located by the 

trustee after reasonable diligence or (2) unknown to the trustee. 

(e) The notification by trustee shall be served by mail to the last known 

address, pursuant to Section 1215, or by personal delivery. 

(f) The notification by trustee shall be served not later than 60 days 

following the occurrence of the event requiring service of the notification 

by trustee, or 60 days after the trustee became aware of the existence of a 

person entitled to receive notification by trustee, if that person was not 

known to the trustee on the occurrence of the event requiring service of the 

notification. If there is a vacancy in the office of the trustee on the date 

of the occurrence of the event requiring service of the notification by 

trustee, or if that event causes a vacancy, then the 60-day period for 

service of the notification by trustee commences on the date the new trustee 

commences to serve as trustee. 

(g) The notification by trustee shall contain the following information: 

(1) The identity of the settlor or settlors of the trust and the date of 

execution of the trust instrument. 

(2) The name, mailing address and telephone number of each trustee of the 

trust. 

(3) The address of the physical location where the principal place of 

administration of the trust is located, pursuant to 

d. As you have seen in (exhibit 5, exhibit 6, exhibit 7 and exhibit 8) and 

will continue to see throughout this motion that I have provided 

undeniable and undisputed proof that the attorney Pierre Rodnunsky of 

PRA and his firm including non-attorney employees on Pierre Rodnunsky’s 

behalf did in fact complete the non-delegable Trustee duties on behalf 

of the Trustee, delegated directly by the trustee and paid directly 

from the Trust assets, in direct violation of the Terms of the trust 
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and the laws of California and included but were not limited to, acts 

that the law states the trustee must do herself and included an 

unreasonable amount of acts that the trustee could reasonably do 

herself as the law determines her duties to include.    

 

Cal. Prob. Code §381 

The trustee shall adhere to the words of the trust and attorney must act 

within the fiduciary duty when administrating a trust. Section 381. (Enacted 

by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79.) 

CA Prob Code § 16012 (2017)   

(a) The trustee has a duty not to delegate to others the performance of acts 

that the trustee can reasonably be required personally to perform and may not 

transfer the office of trustee to another person nor delegate the entire 

administration of the trust to a cotrustee or other person. 

(b) In a case where a trustee has properly delegated a matter to an agent, 

cotrustee, or other person, the trustee has a duty to exercise general 

supervision over the person performing the delegated matter. 

Cal. Prob. Code §16000. 

The right of delegation does not exist to the extent the court determines 

that powers to be delegated are purely personal to the original fiduciary. 

 

e. Both attorneys hired by the beneficiary, Tawny Gage during 

administration and prior to litigation, Julie Berkus (assigned the case 

after specifically hiring Justin Gold) and David Esquibias both had a 

copy of the Trust prior to accepting my retainers and neither attorney 

nor any attorney since (Pete Grossman and The Legacy Lawyers’ Matt 

Stidham or Neda Firouzi) has objected to PRA illegally administering 

the trust or being the ONLY witness in regard to information provided 

or withheld to the beneficiary on behalf of the Trustee, illegal 
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actions, clear breach of fiduciary duty performed directly by Pierre 

Rodnunsky and PRA on behalf of the trustee and is proven to be direct 

fraud on the trust and the beneficiary on behalf of the trustee and in 

violation of trust laws and professional ethics laws.  No attorney has 

attempted to protect the beneficiary according to the laws of 

California or has offered or agreed to file the extensive breaches 

performed directly by Pierre Rodnunsky, PRA or the trustee with direct 

intentions to defraud the court by assisting them to conceal this 

information provided directly to the courts or advise them of the 

illegal fraud on the court by allowing PRA to represent the trustee in 

the litigation of breach of fiduciary duty to provide an accounting as 

required by law, knowing that PRA illegally acted as the administrator 

of the trust on behalf the trustee for the entirety of the trust 

administration and was therefore legally obligated to provide the 

beneficiary with annual accounting as the law requires.  

 

f. Pierre Rodnunsky deliberately acted illegally in collusion with the 

Trustee to hide the existence of the Trust, withhold the Trust for the 

longest period allowed by law, knowing that Karen Roper had no legal 

right to the estate or Carl Gage’s body without showing his next of 

Kin, (by California next of kin Laws) the documents that gave her 

authority to do so and that gives the next of Kin the right to examine 

and confirm the validity of such documents.  

 

g. The job of administration is to protect the trust property and trust 

assets while adhering to the trust instruction and doing all things for 

the benefit of every beneficiary.  

Although the job of administration is legally the trustee’s alone, the 

attorney colluded with the trustee and knowingly illegally accepted the 



 

18 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

delegation of administration and illegally acted on behalf of the Trustee and 

her non-delegable duties in direct violation of the trust and the laws of 

California. 

However, by accepting this delegation, he and PRA were responsible for all 

fiduciary duties of the trust and those required by law.   

Every breach of fiduciary duty that the attorney knowingly colluded with the 

trustee to defraud the trust and defraud Tawny Gage is equally his 

responsibility according to the laws of California and the professional 

ethics codes of California.   

In literal terms, an argument can be made that Tawny Gage was a client by 

extension as he accepted and acted on the illegally delegated administration 

and accepted the responsibilities of the main duties of the Trustee, and 

therefore had a fiduciary duty to protect the beneficiaries and the trust.  

 

2. Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA assisted the Trustee in taking illegal control 

of the Trustor’s estate and the Trustors body  

 The Trustee lied to the police and informed them that she was the next of 

kin and showed them a Power of Attorney to take possession of my father's 

body as shown on the coroner's report on EXHIBIT 9.  Karen Roper did not 

advise his only child, Tawny Gage until TWO DAYS after death, by sending 

Tawny an email that asked her to call the trustee shown in EXHIBIT 10 sent 

the day after his death on March 25, 2017 at 8:52 am with a blank email and 

in the subject, “Please call me now or tonight.  It’s important”. No phone 

call was made to me, not even a text.  Claiming her reason for the delay was 

that she was busy.  When Tawny Gage read the email the day after it was sent, 

on March 26th, she called the Trustee who told her that she was too busy to 

talk and had to call her back.  In the meantime, Tawny Gage read about her 

father’s death on Facebook in a message documented by a person who claimed to 

have heard the news from the trustee’s close friend, (the trustee’s bridge 
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partner).  Tawny Gage then called her father’s cell phone, only to get Karen 

Roper answering her father’s phone and advising her yet again that she was 

busy and would have to call Tawny back and hung up.  Later when the Karen 

finally found the time to call Tawny back, Karen confirmed the death of her 

father happening two days prior and then proceeded to inform Tawny that Tawny 

had been disinherited by her father and that she, Karen Roper, was the only 

beneficiary and the executor of his estate.  Karen’s response on an admission 

discovery shows that she responded to the admission of “Did Karen tell the 

beneficiary that she was the only beneficiary and executor” carelessly and 

irresponsibly worded by Matt Stidham but known to be referring to her 

statement that Tawny Gage had been disinherited by her father and that Karen 

Roper was the only beneficiary, a sarcastic and intentionally misinterpreted 

response to the admission Karen testified “No, Karen Roper did not tell Tawny 

Gage that Tawny Gage was the only beneficiary and executor”, clearly showing 

her sarcasm and callousness and lack of concern for her crimes.  Karen Roper 

told at least two other people that repeated to Tawny Gage that they heard 

directly from Karen Roper that Tawny Gage had been disinherited by her father 

that same day as she told me.  These two people told Tawny Gage that Karen 

Roper had also told them, as she said to Tawny Gage personally, that she, 

Karen Roper, “was going to do the right thing and pay off Tawny’s mortgage, 

even though her father left her nothing. However, because Tawny hung up on 

her during the notification of the death of father, she would no longer be 

willing to do the right thing by paying off her mortgage and that was too bad 

because they could have worked something out.”  Please note that the payoff 

of my mortgage at the time of death was less than 1/10 of the reported value 

of the estate that I was in fact entitled to 50% of the entire estate, 

proving that any concern for the doing the right thing or concern for the 

beneficiary is horrifically disingenuous coming from Karen Roper.  Her only 

concern is for her own financial benefit.  Karen refused to advise his next 
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of kin, Tawny, where his body was located or allow her access to his body and 

refused to show Tawny any evidence of her authority to do so.   

 

On March 27, 2017, Tawny Gage went to her father’s home and found that 

valuables were missing from the property including his wallet, money clip, 

jewelry, computers, phone, keys to his four automobiles, files and valuable 

instruments. 

Tawny Gage informed Karen Roper that she was at her father’s property on an 

email EXHIBIT 12 and demanded the return of his valuables to his home or show 

proof of the documentation that allowed her to take control of his estate and 

body and that disinherited his only child.   Karen Roper almost immediately 

came to the property and refused to speak to Tawny or show her any documents, 

but instead called the Simi Valley Police Dept to report Tawny Gage for 

trespassing and stealing trust property.  Upon the arrival of the Police, 

Karen Roper told the police that Tawny Gage was a drug addict, mentally 

disturbed and estranged from her father who hated her and that she came to 

the house to steal, because she was angry about being disinherited.  Tawny 

informed the police of her disability and that she had a stroke.  Karen told 

them in response, “That is what she tells people'' rolled her eyes and 

laughed.  My photo was in every room of my father's house and there were 

three photos of me directly above my head while sitting in his recliner at 

the time.  Karen informed the police that she was the legal next of kin and 

had legal authority to his estate and that Tawny Gage was bitter because she 

had none.  Karen also worked in that she was married to Sgt. Herb Roper of 

Simi Valley Sheriff's dept.  She told the police that the neighbors had 

called her to report a break-in to the property and she came as soon as she 

could.  However, she had no documents that proved her authority to claim the 

control of the estate with her.  Tawny showed the police her original court 

stamped, witnessed and notarized copy of the will, that made her sole heir to 
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her father’s estate.  The police asked Karen to produce her documents and so 

she went home to retrieve them and returned with the documents over 90 

minutes later, though she lives approximately 6 minutes away from my father’s 

home.  Upon her return she told the police that she had just been on the 

phone with her attorney's office and confirmed with a paralegal Connie, that 

Tawny Gage was not permitted to see or have access to the documents for a 

minimum of 60 days by law.  One policeman read over her shoulder and blurted 

out that Karen Roper had lied and that he saw that Tawny Gage (Kelly Gage) 

was the beneficiary and said “She is the beneficiary, Kelly, you are the 

beneficiary” which is how her lie about me being disinherited was in fact 

discovered.  They believed Karen Ropers reported information from her 

attorney and refused to show me the documents that she held.  They allowed 

her to confiscate my original court stamped will and only copy, stating cause 

to be valid as her documents were dated after mine and were therefore no 

longer valid and believing Karen Roper's insistence that the documents could 

be confiscated by law as advised by her attorney.  Tawny Gage’s person was 

searched, purse was searched and car searched for possible theft of property.  

Tawny was told to leave and returned briefly to ask for her belongings she 

left there and was met at the door by the Police who shouted 6 inches from 

her face “Listen you were asked to leave! Your father did not care about 

you!! I’m sorry to have to be the one to tell you this but this nice lady has 

been trying to tell you and you won’t listen!!!”  Tawny was paralyzed by the 

violent outburst of the police and with tears in her eyes looked at Karen who 

was standing behind them with a broad smile on her face.  

 Tawny Gage was then escorted from the estate at the threat of arrest and 

warned not to return.   The police returned to the condo for approximately 15 

minutes while she sat in her car crying hysterically not knowing what to do.  

When they came out of the residence where Karen Roper still was, they knocked 

on Tawny’s car window and asked her to roll it down, while she was then 
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talking to a friend who had heard about her father’s death from her estranged 

half-brother whom she does not speak to, to offer his condolences.  The 

police demanded to know who Tawny was speaking to and that the call be put on 

speakerphone.  Then demanded that she hang up and remove her vehicle from the 

property immediately and then followed her for several miles until she was 

able to pull into a parking lot to compose herself, so she could drive safely 

home.   

No attorney hired by the beneficiary Tawny Gage has had any problem with that 

illegal injustice and have all advised Tawny Gage that the acts during the 

days surrounding death were legal in their eyes and of no importance to my 

case or relevance to the administration of the trust.  That the trustee had 

just made a mistake.  

I requested a copy of both police reports (date of death and the day I was 

removed from property) from Simi Valley Police Dept. using the public 

information act and as seen on EXHIBIT 13 the police refused to comply with 

the public information act.  My written request to city hall was also refused 

to comply with the public information act as well as my documented requests 

to city hall, the assistant city attorney, the city attorney and the mayor 

were advised of the failure to comply with the public information act 

delivered to each individually via registered mail as is documented in the 

exhibit.    

a. My request to my attorney Matt Stidham, to assist in retrieving 

the police reports that were denied illegally, was denied by him 

and I was told by him to hire another attorney specializing in 

civil law to assist me, and that it had no bearing on my case.   

b. Note the trustee’s email to me on the day before she called the 

police to report me for trespassing, that states “After I read the 

¾ inch stack of documents (starting tomorrow) I will update you on 

what I find.  We need that information.  If I am not the executor, 
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I will pass the responsibility on to whoever that is” on EXHIBIT 

14 dated March 26,2017.  This was two days after she took control 

of the body and removed valuables from his home and told me that I 

could not have access or control of the body or know where the 

body was located.   

c. The Trustee, Karen Roper had my father’s body cremated, without an 

autopsy, over a month prior to Tawny Gage, his next of kin, ever 

receiving any estate documents or even learning that he had a 

trust rather than a will, being locked out of his home at threat 

of arrest if she returned.  Shown on Exhibit 9 

 

The above information regarding the Trustee Karen Roper’s actions before, 

after and around the time of death was provided to the court to show clear 

intent by the Trustee to defraud the beneficiary and shows that Pierre 

Rodnunsky and Associates’ had a clear involvement prior to April 18, 2017.    

 

d. The trust explicitly documents that the trustee and the 

administrator are to be one in the same person and insists that 

the successor Trustee named in the trust must be the only person 

to administer the Trust.  The attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky, was 

responsible for reviewing the Trust and specifically documents in 

his email to the beneficiary, Tawny Gage, (exhibit 5) that he in 

fact reviewed or was in the process of reviewing all documents 

thoroughly in (exhibit 5) and is obligated by the laws of 

California to act with legal responsibility and the utmost 

integrity as an Officer of the Court and was under legal 

obligation to deny his services in the interest of justice and by 

not doing so proves to be in undeniable collusion with the Trustee 

blatantly and with direct intention of defrauding the Trust and 
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the beneficiary, Tawny Gage,  and they both intentionally broke 

the law with malicious intent.  Both acted using the beneficiary’s 

disability to defraud her consistently.   

 

3. Fraud on the Court   

Deliberate and intentional Fraud on the Court by deliberately lying to and 

misleading the Tribunal in an effort to hide the fact that he was defrauding 

the trust by representing the trustee in an illegal litigation that was 

orchestrated by Pierre Rodnunsky, with the assistance of the attorneys of the 

Plaintiff to conceal the fact that he was knowingly guilty of violating the 

Attorney as Witness laws.  

 

a. THE COURT NOTES.   

Mr. Rodnunsky deliberately misrepresented his attorney fees as being 

$17,652.15 (taken directly from The first and Final accounting on page 6 line 

14)  when the accounting specifically and clearly reflects attorney fees at 

$71,161.46 as evident on the First and Final Accounting on pages 96-97 and 

pages 105-106 and from the court noted directly from the court website.  

These court notes are used by the Judge to determine the facts of the case 

during every hearing held throughout the litigation and ultimately the trial 

if any should take place. If the Tribunal is advised of untrue information or 

omission of facts, the court cannot rule on the facts of the case impartially 

and within their judicial duty to provide impartiality and is an intentional 

obstruction of justice by the attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky.  The failure to 

bring this error to the court's attention by opposing attorneys is a 

deliberate collusion in fraud upon the court.   

 

Pages 96-97 and pages 105-106 of The First and Final Accounting of the Carl 

Gage Trust, shows that the attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky took payments knowingly 
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to be illegal, directly from the trust for the illegally accepted delegation 

of the duties of administration of the Trust in an amount totaling 

$71,161.46, and withholding that information from the court by misleading the 

Tribunal and directly lying to the Court.   

 Page 105 of The First and Final Accounting the attorney also listed the 

maximum amount allowed by law to be paid to the Trustee for the duties of 

Administration in the amount of $9203.47. 

The attorney also directly lies on the Accounting, calling it calculated as 

1% which makes either this statement untrue or the total of Trust untrue.  

The total of the trust, the information provided and omitted on the Court 

Ordered Accounting prepared by Pierre Rodnunsky, an Officer of the Court, is 

proven to be by the information provided, is intentionally fraudulent and 

illegal and in violation of all Probate codes that govern a court ordered 

Accounting.  Again, the job of the trustee is to literally administer the 

trust.  Paying an attorney to administer the trust for an amount of over 

$70,000.00 and then paying herself for the same job at an additional sum over 

9,000.00 as shown in the liabilities and expenses of the First and Last 

accounting, is deliberate fraud in collusion with an officer of the court.  

 

b. THE DOCKET NOTES 

Mr. Rodnunsky deliberately misinformed the court that financial statements 

were submitted with the accounting as noted on the docket on EXHIBIT 16, 

taken directly from the court website.  No statements were ever included with 

the 116 page First and Final accounting and is documented as such by my 

previous attorney Pete Grossman in the following email included in exhibit 

16, indicating that no statements were ever provided to him and he only 

received the 116 page accounting.    
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4. Orchestrating illegal litigation to further defraud the trust using 

Fraud on the Court as a tool 

 

a. The attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky was still employed by the trust as 

the administrator when an annual accounting was requested 

directly to Pierre Rodnunsky by my attorney Scott Grossman 

EXHIBIT 17, where he stated that the trustee was not required to 

account in accordance with the trust terms, when my requests to 

Pierre Rodnunsky for an accounting went completely ignored.   

As paid administrator for the trust on behalf of the trustee, paid by the 

trust directly, Pierre Rodnunsky is essentially the administrator that is 

required by law to Account to the beneficiary.  He refused to account though 

aware or expected to be aware that the law requires an annual accounting from 

the trustee/administrator.  He claimed that the trust wording of the trust 

denies my right to an accounting, knowing that the law specifically states 

that the wording is against public policy.  Scott Grossman did not advise me 

that he was acting illegally by administering the trust nor did he advise the 

court that Pierre Rodnunsky was the administrator of the trust acting on 

behalf of the trustee and therefore guilty of intended fraud on the court.     

Probate Code 16062.   

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section and in Section 16064, the 

trustee shall account at least annually, at the termination of the trust, and 

upon a change of trustee, to each beneficiary to whom income or principal is 

required or authorized in the trustee’s discretion to be currently 

distributed. 

(b) A trustee of a living trust created by an instrument executed before July 

1, 1987, is not subject to the duty to account provided by subdivision (a). 

(c) A trustee of a trust created by a will executed before July 1, 1987, is 

not subject to the duty to account provided by subdivision (a), except that 
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if the trust is removed from continuing court jurisdiction pursuant to 

Article 2 (commencing with Section 17350) of Chapter 4 of Part 5, the duty to 

account provided by subdivision (a) applies to the trustee. 

(d) Except as provided in Section 16064, the duty of a trustee to account 

pursuant to former Section 1120.1a of the Probate Code (as repealed by 

Chapter 820 of the Statutes of 1986), under a trust created by a will 

executed before July 1, 1977, which has been removed from continuing court 

jurisdiction pursuant to former Section 1120.1a, continues to apply after 

July 1, 1987. The duty to account under former Section 1120.1a may be 

satisfied by furnishing an account that satisfies the requirements of Section 

16063. 

*(e) Any limitation or waiver in a trust instrument of the obligation to 

account is against public policy and shall be void 

All exceptions and qualifications do not merit a waiver. 

b. The Trust instrument specifically states in section 19.21, (page 

59-60 of The First and Final Accounting that the probate codes 

referred to are those of California and amendments to and 

corresponding provisions of any subsequent California laws. 

 

c. Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA’s  failure to act within the law was a 

direct and intentionally criminal act and recklessly negligent of 

his obligations as an officer of the court, shamelessly making 

light of his intentional crimes showing no concern for the 

consequences or concern for the beneficiary, Tawny Gage, in his 

effort to defraud the trust, the beneficiary and the Court by 

requiring a court order for an accounting from the beneficiary, 

Tawny Gage, causing knowingly unnecessary and very damaging 

financial harm to the beneficiary, Tawny Gage who Pierre 

Rodnunsky and the Trustee, Karen Roper, are very aware is trying 
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to survive on a fixed disability income that does not cover her 

monthly bills and is burdened with health problems and brain 

trauma.   

Pierre Rodnunsky and Karen Roper did this with the direct criminal intention 

of defrauding the trust further by using their ability and expertise of the 

attorney to manipulate the laws of California for his personal benefit and by 

embarrassing the court with his abuse of the court under the supervision of 

the court only successful by the collusion of other trust attorneys for their 

own personal financial gain at great cost and irreparable financial and 

emotional damage to the disabled beneficiary, Tawny Gage.   

 

5. Pierre Rodnunsky and the Trustee colluded and succeeded in Illegally 

preventing trust distributions to the beneficiary by using fraud and 

abuse of the court to do so. 

On the 164 page “Objection to instruct the Trustee to distribute” Court 

document number 1781758314 Pierre Rodnunsky and the beneficiary successfully 

used the fraud on the court to prevent distributions to the beneficiary, 

though the duty to distribute is not a matter of whether a beneficiary needs 

the money or if it is an emergency, it is a legally binding fiduciary duty. 

The law of trust distributions is straightforward. 

 Under Probate Code section 16000, the trustee must follow the trust terms. 

 In Leader v. Cords (182 Cal. App. 4th 1588(2010)), the California Appellate 

Court held that the duty to account is inseparable from the duty to 

distribute. In other words, a trustee must make a distribution of trust 

assets in order to meet their duty to administer the trust according to its 

terms. 

  

The order denying the distribution is on Court document number 1781817812 

that denies the distribution on the basis of “Not an emergency” Though it was 
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and still is and emergency as the disabled beneficiary has been denied any 

distributions from the trustee for nearly 4 years, is on a fixed disability 

income and this illegal and unnecessary litigation has caused extensive 

irreparable financial damage to the beneficiary and prohibited my ability to 

pay counsel to protect me, even if I could find a trust attorney with 

integrity and willing to expose the corruption happening in the Probate 

Court.  The additional claims in the emergency request have also caused 

extensive damage to my credit, my home, my quality of life and ability to 

survive without any assistance. 

6. Pierre Rodnunsky additionally intentionally misleads and directly lied 

to the court/tribunal on the following court filed documents 

specifically: 

On the First and last accounting of the Carl Gage Trust document number 

1755665841  

a. Page 2 line 11-13 “On April 18, 2017 respondent formally accepted 

her appointment as Trustee of the Trust.  Attached hereto as 

Exhibit E and incorporated herein by reference is a true and 

correct copy of as Acceptance of Trusteeship executed by 

Respondent on April 18, 2017.”  Though not mentioned in his 

statement, this attachment is located on page number 79 of the 

Accounting.  You will also find another Acceptance of Trusteeship 

signed by Karen Roper dated October 4th, 2018 on page number 15 

the Accounting.  

The attorney listed the acceptance of trusteeship of the respondent but 

neglected to mention that he was employed by the trust as the administrator 

acting on behalf of the trustee as noted in exhibit 5.   

b. Page 2 line 14-15 “The decedent transferred title to some of his 

assets, including his residence into the trust.”  
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The residence was the ONLY documented asset to be transferred into the trust.  

His wording that some of his assets, including the residence is misleading 

and insinuates that there were more assets transferred to the trust before 

death.  

c. Page 2 Line 15-18 “However, inadvertently, the decedent did not 

formally transfer various financial accounts and vehicles to the 

Trust, notwithstanding his clear intent that they be deemed 

assets of the Trust since they were either specifically 

identified on the Schedule A to the Trust and/or generally 

assigned to the trust by way of as Assignment document.”   

The Heggstad petition located on page 82-83 of the First and Final 

accounting, showed evidence only of assets that were identified in Schedule A 

and no assets were “generally assigned to the trust by way of Assignment 

document”. 

d. PRA directly lied to the beneficiary, in their (illegally) 

designated administration, and acceptance of the Trustees duty to 

inform the beneficiary (also illegal) when they officially 

notified the beneficiary, Tawny Gage, of the trust assets.  They 

deliberately and deceptively informed the beneficiary as well as 

the beneficiary’s counsel on several occasions on Exhibit 6 that 

the Ameritrade, Etrade and Ally accounts were part of the trust 

assets prior to receiving or petitioning for a Heggstad order.  

PRA also stated that the four automobiles were also trust assets 

prior to any order or petition for a Heggstad order.  They 

omitted the fact that they had to get an order to make them trust 

assets, and directly refused to answer the beneficiary when she 

asked if any court proceedings were intended by the attorney or 

trustee. 
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My legal counsel at the time failed to investigate the legitimacy of the 

trust assets and had evidence provided directly from PRA that the assets were 

trust assets, prior to the heggstad petition being filed or approved and 

allowed the illegal acts by PRA, refusing to expose PRA’s illegal crimes 

against the beneficiary and the trust. 

e. Page 3 line 5-9 of the First and Last Accounting: “On about 

January 16, 2018, Respondent presented a small estate affidavit, 

pursuant to probate code 13100, to Ally Bank, requesting that 

certain certificate of deposit accounts having an aggregate value 

of $45,146.01 be paid, transferred, or delivered to Respondent as 

trustee of the trust.  On or about January 31, 2018, Ally Bank 

paid said accounts totaling $45146.91 to Respondent as trustee of 

the trust. 

Ally Bank was NOT EVER deemed a trust asset nor was it included in the 

petition for a Heggstad order as shown in pages 83 -83 of the First and Last 

Accounting on the Heggstad order or included in the Court Order making non 

trust assets, trust assets.  PRA was aware of the vesting of every account as 

they marshalled the financial accounts as the administrator for the trust PRA 

lied to the beneficiary to assist the trustee in the theft of non-trust 

assets.  The trustee, Karen Roper requested that the transfer be made to the 

name of the Carl Gage Trust, which was an illegal and fraudulent transaction 

by the trustee with direct involvement by the attorney firm PRA.  Had I known 

that the Ally account was not part of the trust, I would have claimed the 

assets myself as his only child and nearest next of kin which he would know 

that only I could do that if he did not have a beneficiary listed or included 

it in the trust.  This is proven in the First and Last Accounting on page 3 

lines 5-9 shows that the Ally account was the personal property of the 

decedent and not part of the trust when the trustee withdrew the accounts 

illegally and fraudulently and had the check made to the name of the trust.   
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Continuing Pierre Rodnunsky’s direct lies and misrepresentation of facts on 

The First and Final accounting of the Carl Gage Trust Court document number 

1755665841  

f. Page 3 line 17-20  “The trustee makes the following allegations 

pursuant to probate code 1063 that estimated market value of the 

assets on hand as of the end of the accounting period See Exhibit 

G schedule E” 

As shown in page 100-103, there are no current market values for any assets 

listed in schedule E as required by law. 

g. Page 3 line 17 on the First and Final Accounting “Allegations 

pursuant to Probate code 1063 n/a” 

There were no allegations to the business that my father owned called CGA 

Carlton Gage and Associates.  An active business with current customers for 

website creation and maintenance.  The business had a bank account held at 

Premier America Credit Union with a tax id number and a separate business tax 

filing every year.  The account or proceeds from this business are not 

mentioned or how the business was liquidated or if taxes for 2017 were filed 

for the business.  The trustee states in her trustee hours submitted in 

discovery that the taxes are payable by the beneficiary of the account which 

is not legally true as to the business and it’s filed taxes.  It is only true 

of the remaining funds left in the account that are distributed to the 

beneficiary and have nothing to do with the assets earned from the business 

or the taxes filed for the business.  

h. Page 4 line 4 – 6  on the First and Final Accounting “ a. There 

were no sales, purchases, changes in the form of assets or other 

transactions occurring during the period of account that are not 

otherwise readily understandable from the detailed allegations 

presented herein” 
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The statement is untrue in every respect as to all of the information 

provided directly in the accounting.  

The inventory list does not have any values on 80% of the list.  It has zero 

current market values on all of the inventory as shown on page 100-103.   

During discovery the attorney provided a computer cd of electronic picture 

files of more than 900 pictures of extremely valuable inventory (documented 

as being taken 6 months after the date of death) that were not accounted for 

or listed in the account inventory or as part of the value of the Trust.  

They also refused to account for these valuable items in discovery claiming 

that they were not wanted by the beneficiary, Tawny Gage so their disposition 

was not of any consequence to the Trust or the trust value. 

Items pictured on the CD, by mere common sense, far exceed the value of items 

that are listed in the inventory in the First and Final Accounting of Carl 

Gage Trust.  

i. Specifically, the inventory consists of a common change jar they 

have listed as inventory by individually listing each individual 

coin (quarter, dime etc…) to show a large number of distributions 

to the beneficiary, Tawny Gage.  There is no picture of this 

change jar in any of the pictures taken of the inventory. They 

included things in the Accounting like a box of various 

miscellaneous items, a plastic soap dish, plastic table cloth 

clamps, a tiny crock pot, a plastic bag filled with other plastic 

bags etc…shown on pages 100 –103, but failed to list the Assets 

photographed on the CD submitted in discovery including but not 

limited to two large flat screen televisions, soundbars, 

expensive stereo equipment, Bose surround sound system, a climate 

controlled wine locker that contained 350 bottles of fine wine 

collected over forty years or more, audio recording equipment, 

several quality microphones and stands, amps, expensive software, 
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2 desktop computers, several laptops, several flat screens 

monitors, valuable color laser printer, quality headphones, music 

stands, several guitar stands, keyboards, drum kit, a very 

valuable harmony mixer still in the box, several cell phones, 

several laptops, hard drives, harmonicas, several expensive boom 

boxes, over 600 cds, expensive video equipment, valuable 

furniture, a telescope on a tripod, Callaway titanium golf clubs, 

a large collection of tools, power tools, not to mention the 

omission of my Gage family heirlooms that only some are pictured 

but some of those previously advised to me that they could not 

locate them, solid oak furniture, a brand new electric reclining 

couch and separate recliner, over 300 valuable vinyl records and 

45’s collected from the 1950s to the 1990’s, an original 1960 

fender amp worth thousands, Very valuable complete set of china 

and crystal purchased by my grandparents in the 1950’s in 

England, my great uncles typewriter from the beginning of the 

1900’s, my great grandfather's pocket watch, my fathers Army Dog 

Tags, a detailed genealogy report of the Gage Family History that 

included my ancestors photographs dating back to the 1700’s, most 

notably my father’s ashes are not listed in the inventory…etc 

etc…  

j. Many items are valued at approximately or above $1,000.00 and are 

not accounted for, but admitted to the existence of these items 

in Discovery while refusing to offer any explanation of why they 

were intentionally withheld from the Accounting or the Trust 

value.   They also do not reflect the stolen items that they will 

not admit were in the house at the time of death.   

All assets pictured in the computer cd that was provided to Scott Grossman 

are unequivocally of far more value that the items listed in the Accounting 
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inventory, proving the trustee’s and PRA’s intent to defraud the trust and 

the beneficiary and kept the true value of the trust intentionally hidden 

through fraud.   

k.  Documented on page 109 the First and Final Accounting showing that 

the Trustee sent a key to the Trust Property to a non-attorney employee 

of PRA, Connie Lee in June of 2017 and the email evidence in my 

possession shows that it was used more than three times, without the 

Trustee’s supervision or ability to monitor access.   

Additionally my extensive email evidence from PRA proves that they advised 

the beneficiary of all trust business including but not limited to several 

promises to take inventory, documentation of trust assets requested by the 

beneficiary being given to non-beneficiaries using trustee discretion, 

notification the trust property is in non-trustee and non-administrator 

possession without documentation, that non-attorney personnel at PRA have 

unsupervised access to trust property, Tawny Gage was being charged for the 

entire amount of the moving and storage of trust property and it was being 

taken out of her half of the distribution, trustee/administrator conditions 

were placed on the beneficiary to receive distributions, refusal to give the 

beneficiary information about the trust business happening, PRA involvement 

in the sale of the property etc….. 

Trust property in Pierre Rodnunsky and Associates personal possession.   

l. EXHIBIT 18 shows the extensive amount of trust assets that the 

attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA claims to have in their personal 

possession that includes cash and gold coins. 

Pierre Rodnunsky and Allison Loevner failed to follow the professional 

code of ethics laws that obligate the attorney to correctly identify 

the assets held by the attorney and the intended beneficiary along with 

descriptions and values and the location and security of the assets 

held by the attorney. Neda Firouzi and Matt Stidham of The Legacy 
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Lawyers never protected me by requiring PRA to follow the Professional 

code of ethics despite my repeated requests for them to do so.  

Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Funds and Property of Clients and Other Persons (Rule 

Approved by the Supreme Court, Effective November 1, 2018) 

(d) A lawyer shall:  

(1) promptly notify a client or other person* of the receipt of funds, 

securities, or other property in which the lawyer knows* or reasonably should 

know* the client or other person* has an interest; (2) identify and label 

securities and properties of a client or other person* promptly upon receipt 

and place them in a safe deposit box or other place of safekeeping as soon as 

practicable; 2 (3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and 

other property of a client or other person* coming into the possession of the 

lawyer or law firm;* (4) promptly account in writing* to the client or other 

person* for whom the lawyer holds funds or property; (5) preserve records of 

all funds and property held by a lawyer or law firm* under this rule for a 

period of no less than five years after final appropriate distribution of 

such funds or property; (6) comply with any order for an audit of such 

records issued pursuant to the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar; and (7) 

promptly distribute, as requested by the client or other person,* any 

undisputed funds or property in the possession of the lawyer or law firm* 

that the client or other person* is entitled to receive. (e) The Board of 

Trustees of the State Bar shall have the authority to formulate and adopt 

standards as to what “records” shall be maintained by lawyers and law firms* 

in accordance with paragraph (d)(3). The standards formulated and adopted by 

the Board, as from time to time amended, shall be effective and binding on 

all lawyers. 

(2) A lawyer shall, from the date of receipt of all securities and other 

properties held for the benefit of client or other person* through the period 

ending five years from the date of appropriate disbursement of such 
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securities and other properties, maintain a written* journal that specifies: 

(a) each item of security and property held; (b) the person* on whose behalf 

the security or property is held; (c) the date of receipt of the security or 

property; (d) the date of distribution of the security or property; and (e) 

person* to whom the security or property was distributed. Comment [1] Whether 

a lawyer owes a contractual, statutory or other legal duty under paragraph 

(a) to hold funds on behalf of a person* other than a client in situations 

where client funds are subject to a third-party lien will depend on the 

relationship between the lawyer and the third-party, whether the lawyer has 

assumed a contractual obligation to the third person* and whether the lawyer 

has an independent obligation to honor the lien under a statute or other law. 

In certain circumstances, a lawyer may be civilly liable when the lawyer has 

notice of a lien and disburses funds in contravention of the lien. (See 

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc. v. Aguiluz (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 302 [54 

Cal.Rptr.2d 665].) However, civil liability by itself does not establish a 

violation of this rule. (Compare Johnstone v. State Bar of California (1966) 

64 Cal.2d 153, 155-156 [49 Cal.Rptr. 97] [“‘When an attorney assumes a 

fiduciary relationship and violates his duty in a manner that would justify 

disciplinary action if the relationship had been that of attorney and client, 

he may properly be disciplined for his misconduct.’”] with Crooks v. State 

Bar (1970) 3 Cal.3d 346, 358 [90 Cal.Rptr. 600] [lawyer who agrees to act as 

escrow or stakeholder for a client and a third-party owes a duty to the 

nonclient with regard to held funds]. 

 

m. Because the items in the inventory on the First and Final Accounting  

are not described in detail any item can be replaced for less valuable 

inventory.  The criminal actions of Karen Roper and Pierre Rodnunsky 

and PRA listed thus far, confirm the likelihood of this and the 

intention of the illegally missing documentation and values on the 
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Accounting clear.  Because none of the inventory is detailed one 

computer could be a useless 30 year old computer or it could be a state 

of the art lightning fast very valuable computer, and their intentional 

omission of this information leaves me with little recourse as there 

are no values listed on the majority of inventory items. 

Most notably in this effort is my constant request for my father’s Army 

Dog Tags that are of sentimental value to me, and no value to the 

trustee, that are intentionally listed in the Inventory as being a 

“chain with a pendant” rather than identifying it as my Father’s Dog 

Tags.  

Among the other property missing in inventory is an H&K Revolver Model 649 

that is registered to Carl Gage serial number AT815285, not listed in 

inventory or value of the Trust or in the pictures provided to the 

beneficiary in the first discovery.   

An unbelievably valuable 1928 Martin D28 Guitar serial number 268464 that the 

Trustee will not verify the serial number to but was asked to in discovery in 

2018. They included a serial number of other guitars but intentionally left 

out this item due to its excessive value being misrepresented in the First 

and Last Accounting. 

PLEASE NOTE: PRA claims to have this valuable and sentimental heirloom in 

their personal possession and if not kept at the right humidity or 

conditioned it renders the guitar valueless.  Though the Trustee documents 

the value at 2500.00, the value has been determined to be over $60,000.00 in 

the condition it was in at the time of death.   

The guitar was noted as being given to non-trustees later identified as Gary 

and Kathy Lynch of Moorpark, California, to hold for the trustee for safety 

reasons, however, she had over $85,000.00 in gold coins in her possession and 

a valuable Lexus 500 in her driveway.  Then PRA advised my attorney that he 
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now had possession of this valuable and sentimental guitar, being my father’s 

favorite and most used guitar on a daily basis.  

Though the guitar has been documented as being delegated to be distributed to 

me in the First and Final Accounting, it has been cruelly kept from me for 

nearly four years along with all other distributions and been recklessly and 

irresponsibly exposed to damage and theft through the Trustees lack of 

concern for the safety of this item, knowing it is of incredible emotional 

value to me.  The mere fact that the trustee would give this item to non-

beneficiaries and given to a criminal attorney to hold rather than 

distributing it to me in the last four years is evident of her cruelty and 

disrespect and disregard for her fiduciary duty or her respect for the laws 

of California.  Pierre Rodnunsky’s refusal to distribute the trust assets in 

his possession for over 3 years, is evident of his criminal behavior and 

efforts to collude with the trustee to prevent any distributions to the 

beneficiary. 

 

Please see Pages 88-92 in the 164 page Objection to distribute where Pierre 

Rodnunsky specifically advises my previous counsel that he is illegally 

withholding and/or advising the trustee to illegally withhold distributions 

to the beneficiary based on his feigned insult from my attorney.  This is in 

direct violation of the law, fiduciary duty and the terms of the trust.   

n. Also, my Father’s ashes and all items of monetary and sentimental 

value have all been kept from me and transferred to multiple non-

trustees and non-beneficiaries rather than be distributed to me in 4 

years as they use the illegal litigation to justify their refusal to 

distribute anything to me.   

California Probate code  

16000.  
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On acceptance of the trust, the trustee has a duty to administer the trust 

according to the trust instrument and, except to the extent the trust 

instrument provides otherwise, according to this division. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79.) 

16002. 

(a) The trustee has a duty to administer the trust solely in the interest of 

the beneficiaries. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79.) 

16003.  

If a trust has two or more beneficiaries, the trustee has a duty to deal 

impartially with them and shall act impartially in investing and managing the 

trust property, taking into account any differing interests of the 

beneficiaries. 

(Amended by Stats. 1995, Ch. 63, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 1996.) 

16004.   

(a) The trustee has a duty not to use or deal with trust property for the 

trustee’s own profit or for any other purpose unconnected with the trust, nor 

to take part in any transaction in which the trustee has an interest adverse 

to the beneficiary. 

16006.   

The trustee has a duty to take reasonable steps under the circumstances to 

take and keep control of and to preserve the trust property. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79.) 

  

7. Cash and Gold illegally listed in tangible assets and in direct 

violation of the Trust Instrument with a proven false claim of 

appraisal: 

The tangible inventory also contains cash and gold coins that are strictly 

prohibited from being listed as tangible property in the trust.  
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They have the bouillon listed as being appraised, the only item to claim to 

have been appraised in the inventory of the accounting, at face value of 

$100.00. First and Final Acounting on page 101 

If this information is true, and a qualified commodities broker appraised the 

coins at face value, that means that the expert swore with his name and 

reputation that the price of gold has not fluctuated at all, up or down, 

since 1999 when my father purchased the coins.  Because we know that gold 

does fluctuate in value and does so daily at a substantial amount, this 

information is intentionally fraudulent and represents direct fraud by the 

trustee and the attorney. 

8. Page 4 lines 7 – 18 of the First and Last accounting   “ b. There are 

no unusual items appearing in this account, with the exception of  the 

following:  This trust administration has proved extremely challenging 

and difficult as s result of the belligerent and hostile behavior of 

the beneficiary, KELLY MARIE GAGE, also known as TAWNY GAGE 

{hereinafter “Tawny”).  Throughout this trust administration, TAWNY has 

hired at least three different law firms to represent her as a 

beneficiary.  Accordingly, the Trustee’s attorney was compelled to deal 

with three different attorneys representing TAWNY.  TAWNY has also 

legally represented herself, in pro per, for those periods of time in 

which she was unrepresented.  Both TAWNY and her many prior attorneys 

have sent countless communications and requests for information to the 

Trustees attorney.  This required the Trustees attorney to respond to 

those communications and accumulated well beyond what was originally 

anticipated at the onset.” 

 

First, the attorney was the main contact and the designated main 

administrator of the trust by the trustee.  Communications were only allowed 

to go through his firm, PRA.   
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Second, the beneficiary, Tawny Gage, had never represented herself, in pro 

per, prior to the accounting, where he makes this statement.  The beneficiary 

represented herself as a 50% outright beneficiary, legally entitled to 

information about the trust business.  No litigation prior to the order for 

an accounting had taken place requiring the beneficiary, Tawny Gage to 

represent herself in pro per.  The attorney began the trust as a legal fight 

rather than representing the trust or the laws of California. Administered 

the trust illegally to cause the beneficiary harm on behalf of the trustee 

rather than just stealing from her without the additional emotional abuse and 

personal financial harm to the beneficiary.  Their constant arrogance and 

cruelty knowing that I do not have the mental ability to create a motion on 

my own to advise the court of their illegal acts and fraud upon the court.  I 

cannot maintain effective communication and temporarily forget facts and 

stutter in verbal communications.   

PRA did not respond to any attorney within the law and orchestrated the need 

for attorneys with direct intention to defraud the beneficiary with the 

assistance of fellow trust attorneys who failed to protect their client, the 

beneficiary or ever point out any of the illegal acts performed by PRA.  As 

trust attorneys, they all had knowledge of his illegal acts and refused to 

act within the law.   

This is a proven additional lie in the attorneys First and last accounting.  

There was no need for an attorney involved to provide the entitled by law 

information to the beneficiary, if PRA or the trustee, Karen Roper, had 

followed any of the trust laws of California or the instructions of the 

trust.   

The illegal actions are specifically listed in detail below with 

corresponding evidence showing the undeniable need for legal representation 

and the corresponding communications of my legal counsel to PRA, From PRA and 

to the beneficiary, Tawny Gage, their client that unequivocally shows each 
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one of their collusion in the fraud and failure to protect Tawny Gage, the 

beneficiary as their obligation to the professional code of ethics demands of 

them and without concern for Tawny Gage’s interest.   

Tawny Gage was in fact forced to hire two attorneys prior to Scott Goldman, 

who was hired to file a petition to have the court order an Accounting, 

required by law, that the trustee and administrator in this case, Pierre 

Rodnunsky, an officer of the court, the Trustee Karen Roper and the employees 

of PRA refused to respect the laws of California and act accordingly to their 

legal obligations not only did so with shameless moral turpitude and lack of 

integrity but unnecessary and excessive cruelty to the beneficiary, Tawny 

Gage.   

They failed to provide correct and true information about the Trust or the 

Trust business to the beneficiary, Tawny Gage during administration or treat 

her fairly or respectfully during the illegal administration or the gross 

misconduct of Pierre Rodnunsky and Karen Roper was so incredibly criminal and 

illegal, even if they were not just in constant gross breach of their 

respective fiduciary duties.  

Actions of the attorney Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA on behalf of the Trustee, 

Karen Roper, that forced the beneficiary to hire legal representation 

included but was not limited to the following acts: 

Among one of the most horrific and criminal acts by the attorney Pierre 

Rodnunsky and PRA on behalf of the Trustee, Karen Roper is when the Trustee, 

Karen Roper, forwarded non-trust related communications from the beneficiary, 

directly to the trust attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky, and also gave him my 

personal banking history , held by the Trustor, Carl Gage, acting as 

custodian for his disabled only child, Tawny Gage’ 

 

9. Pierre Rodnunsky and PRA acted in an abhorrent scheme to directly 

harass the beneficiary and cause direct and intentional financial and 
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emotional harm to the fragile and distraught beneficiary by illegally 

withholding her personal banking history from her for 6 months, not 

returned to the beneficiary immediately when recovered from my fathers 

property.   

Tawny Gage begged the trustee to return her personal banking history and 

instead the trustee forwarded them to Pierre Rodnunsky who refused to give 

them to Tawny Gage after several requests and even hiring an attorney to 

retrieve them from PRA, they were finally returned to me in August of 2017, 

via electronic format on an email directly from PRA.  

 

10. Page 4 line 26-28  of The First and Final Accounting 

“e.) During the period of this account, the Trustee has kept all cash in her 

possession in interest bearing accounts or in investments authorized by law 

or the governing instrument, except for an amount of cash that is reasonably 

necessary for the orderly administration of the estate.” 

The Accounting only shows one account that the trust assets are being held in 

at Union Bank in non-interest bearing checking account.  No interest on any 

monies held in the trust for almost two years prior to the court ordered 

accounting shown in any schedule on the Accounting.   

Please note that the Attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky 0pened the bank account at 

Union Bank with his own personal funds.  Shown on the The First and Last 

accounting on page 93 

That he accepted deposits to the trust to be made to the trust account.  On 

page 93 

And that no trust expenses were paid directly from the trust account on pages 

107=113 

The total of the house sale was not distributed to the trust account because 

Pierre Rodnunsky took a payment of $45082.34 directly from the sale, listed 

under Escrow expenses as seen on The First and Final Accounting page 96.  
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Note: The union bank statements have been deliberately kept from the 

beneficiary, by Matt Stidham 

Along with the Ally Bank small estate forms. 

 

Page 5 lines 1-6 “ 

Page 5 lines 7-8 “ 

Page 5 line 10-15 “ 

11. Page 5, line 18-28  and page 6, lines 1-7 “a. gifs of tangible 

personal property and Vehicles/motor home Section 4.1 (a) and Article 5 

of the trust (as amended by the Third Amendment, see Exhibit D) sers 

forth the following distributions of tangible personal property: 

“Upon my death….the following distribution shall be made by Trustee from the 

trust estate: Gift of Vehicles and Motorhome shall be equally distributed as 

follows: 

a. All vehicles and Motor Homes that I own shall be equally distributed to 

Kelly Marie Gage and Karen Roper outright………ll my interest in my 

tangible personal property, not effectively disposed of above, together 

with any insurance on each property, shall be equally distributed by 

the Trustee outright to Kelly Marie Gage and Karen M. Roper outright.  

b. Balance of trust estate section 4.1 (e) of the Trust (as amended by the 

Third Amendment; see Exhibit D) sets for the following distributions of 

the balance of the Trust estate “The balance of the trust estate shall 

be allocated as follows Fifty percent (50%) to Kelly Marie Gage, 

outright and fifty percent (50%)  to Karen Roper, outright” 

If no complete inventory was taken as proven above in and no pictures taken 

until six months after death, while several non-trustees had access to the 

assets without trustee supervision and the majority of assets were not listed 

in the court ordered Accounting or accounted for in the trust value, no 

complete inventory was taken while the trustee admittedly removed several car 



 

46 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

loads, truck loads and boxes from the trust property over six months while 

only listing invaluable items on the very short inventories given in 

administration, admittedly gave undocumented valuable assets to “Friends to 

hold” and gave away very valuable assets to non-beneficiaries without 

complete descriptions or values prior to distributions being made to the 

other beneficiary and that Tawny Gage was first allowed to be distributed 

items in an outright spit.  The Trustee/administrator gave items of value 

documented as being items that the beneficiary wanted prior to a complete 

value of the trust or inventory to non-beneficiaries.  If no interest on any 

trust financial assets are  shown on the Accounting and every probate code 

that governs the court ordered accounting and no bank statements provided to 

the beneficiary, theft of non-trust property and the excessive billing of 

illegal administration of the Trust.   

With all of this, it is proven that the Trustee Karen Roper with the 

assistance of Pierre Rodnunsky, deliberately omitted items of great value and 

chose to list only items at zero value.  The methods used to find the value 

of the assets were intentionally without any effort or need for true value.  

Pages from discovery that shows the trustee offered the extent of her search 

for true value with “I asked a friend, and he said it’s worth about a 

100.00.”  No mention who this friend was or how or if he was qualified to 

make such a guess.  No further efforts were made.  No appraisals were done 

and no physical descriptions or serial numbers given to verify.  If the 

estate to be divided outright and items that are not accounted for or valued, 

showing deliberate intention to dishonestly by listing items with zero value 

on the inventory and providing pictures of exceedingly valued items as shown 

in the pictures submitted in discovery.  Not to mention the Trustee fails to 

show pictures of the most valuable items such as the China and crystal that 

my grandparents purchased in England in the 1950’s.  The photos show pictures 

of plastic champagne glasses as evidence of the valuable china and crystal. 
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This type of disrespectful and immature criminal behavior is evident of the 

Trustees lack of interest in her fiduciary duty and only interested in her 

personal gain.  

On the dates of the move, two non-attorney personnel of PRA, Connie Lee, 

paralegal and Gabriella Sarceno, office staff, were paid by the trust to 

supervise the move that consisted of two full days, two 28 foot trucks, 14 

moving company employees of QRS moving company that packed the trust assets.   

At which time no inventory was being taken or accounted for while two 28 foot 

trucks were being simultaneously loaded at the trust property.  The partially 

full trucks were held by the moving company with only their access to the 

trucks overnight before both trucks were returned in the morning for another 

full day of packing and only ONE of those trucks was delivered to the 

beneficiary Tawny Gage, without documentation of the items, signature of 

receipt and only in the supervision of two non-attorney personnel from PRA 

without the presence of the Trustee or the attorney at the packing, moving or 

delivery to the beneficiary Tawny Gage of supposed distributions. 

Therefore, the Trustee Karen Roper or attorney Pierre Rodnunsky cannot 

personally verify what was distributed to the beneficiary or in what 

condition. 

CA Prob Code § 11751 (2017)   

The personal representative shall obtain the receipt of the distributee for 

property in the estate distributed by the personal representative. In the 

case of real property, the personal representative shall record the court 

order for distribution or the personal representative’s deed or both in the 

county in which the real property is located. Recordation of the order or 

deed is deemed to be a receipt of the distributee for the property. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79.) 
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12. Page 6 line 8-13  “Reserve Requested  Respondent requests 

authorization to withhold $10,000.00 in cash as a reserve for closing 

expenses , for income taxes and tax preparation fees, for future 

compensation the Trustee, for future attorney fees and costs to 

Trustees attorney and for any liabilities that may be determined to be 

due from the Trust estate.  Any unexpended portion of the reserve will 

be distributed as part of the balance of the Trust estate, to the 

beneficiaries set forth in paragraph 18(b) below.   

The mere title of the document being “The first and Final Accounting of the 

Carl Gage trust” not only insinuates but declares with definition that Trust 

administration is complete.  The only future attorney fees and costs to the 

Trustees attorney can only be determined to be his intent to continue illegal 

Fraud on the Trust, fraud on the beneficiary Tawny Gage and intended 

continuance of illegal Fraud on the Court.   

The declaration that the trust administration has ended, and the maximum 

trustee fees already delegated in Disbursements and Liabilities of the trust, 

declares the Trustees intention to continue to defraud the trust and 

beneficiary Tawny Gage while defrauding the Court. 

The billing for the preparation of the Final Trust income taxes already 

completed are plainly listed in the expenses of the Trust. 

The cost for liabilities due to the Trust are excessive, but clearly not an 

expense to the trust, but a personal expense to the Trustee.  

The Trustees proven criminal behavior and fraud on the trust and the 

beneficiary Tawny Gage, as well as her refusal to take her fiduciary duty 

seriously, failure to distribute any trust funds to the beneficiary Tawny 

Gage and her clear continuance of her criminal acts suggests that the Trustee 

has no intention of distributing any part of any illegally taken reserve.   

Please note on Page 105 and 106 of The First and Final Accounting, the 

Trustee and Attorney have already made their intentions clear by leaving 
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blank amounts marked “TBD” for future fees to them included in the 

Liabilities of the trust.   

13. Discovery Abuse  

a. The discovery abuse was extensive and orchestrated illegally to 

prolong the litigation and frustrate and bankrupt the 

beneficiary.  

The hundreds of pages provided by the Trustee and the Administrator included 

intentional cut off copies of evidence, pages of useless and unrequested 

information that had no bearing on the proof that was requested, incomplete 

information and the illegal refusal of multiple discoveries legally entitled 

to the beneficiary to verify the information provided on the First and Last 

Accounting, claiming the information was being withheld for use in the Trial. 

A trial that had not yet been scheduled and would not be necessary if the 

Trustee and her attorney, acting as administrator of the trust provided a 

legally required by law annual accounting, completed it within the law and 

offered the burden of proof that is owned by them according to the laws of 

California. Pete Grossman refused to compel the discovery requested. Pete 

Grossman also refused to subpoena any evidence regarding the First and Last 

Accounting.  

b. The Trustee and her attorney Pierre Rodnunsky propounded over 170 

discoveries upon the beneficiary indicating that she was 

responsible for the burden of proof to provide evidence for their 

case that is in litigation strictly for the failure to act with 

integrity and on their fiduciary to provide an accounting that 

they refused to do and the litigation is based on their failure 

to provide a competent or legal Accounting and the litigation was 

to be used to prove the information they provided was true and 

correct.  The beneficiary has no fiduciary duty to provide 

information regarding the administration business handled solely 
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by the Trustee/administrator.  The extensive discoveries 

propounded on the beneficiary cost more than ten thousand dollars 

to the beneficiary to complete by The Legacy Lawyers and the 

compel for discovery was issued PRIOR to receiving the last two 

discoveries, collected directly by Matt Stidham.   

c. Ultimately the court sanctioned me $1900.00 in addition to their 

abuse.  Please see Pierre Rodnunsky’ss claim that the TRUSTEE, 

“Karen Roper has not yet received the $1900.00 sanction due to 

her that was sanctioned by the court in his 164 page objection to 

exparte distribution on Page 4  

 

The legal fees are being paid directly from the trust as seen in Allison’s 

email on EXHIBIT 19.  

No judgement by the judge was found according to court rules that specifies 

that the sanctions be identified in detail documenting the specific 

accumulated total of the sanction of $1900.33, however the judge did ask 

these sanctions be made to the moving party as I understand it and as Pierre 

Rodnunsky explained explicitly that the moving party is Karen Roper.  Though 

the costs that were sanctioned were paid directly by the Carl Gage Trust 

according to Allison Loevner as shown above. 

In Closing 

 My exhaustive and time-consuming searches for honest trust attorneys in the 

Los Angeles area who will file the motion that exposes the corruption in the 

Probate Court by officers of the court has been unsuccessful.  Funding the 

officers of the court hired by me, only to assist Pierre Rodnunsky, his firm 

and the trustee in illegally defrauding the Court while defrauding me for 

their personally financial benefit has effectively financially ruined me and 

caused great harm to my already fragile health condition and my emotional 

stability.  Not to mention the damage done to the Trust assets in the past 3 
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years of wasting the Court’s time and its resources to house the corruption 

and the direct theft of the taxpayers money that has been used to house their 

corruption. 

This corruption by attorneys and officers of the court, to defraud innocent 

people of their trusts appears to be an effortless collusion, to defraud the 

US Justice system by intentionally obstructing justice for their personal 

financial benefit.  

These crimes were able to be uncovered by a disabled and mentally impaired 

victim of their crimes. Though I have been very vocal about my findings but 

lied to about the laws and prevented from receiving quick justice by the 

colluded and practiced efforts, without fear of being exposed.   

 This is not meant to embarrass the court but to make the court aware of how 

the officers of their court have been able to embarrass the court by 

manipulating the law and taking advantage of the bench’s need to have faith 

in the integrity of their officers of the court and depend on them to police 

each other.  They have taken that trust and used it to embarrass the court 

and defraud the court and the taxpayers as a tool to defraud the trusts they 

specialize in and defraud the beneficiaries with the assistance of other 

officers of the court and the assistance of the trustee who allow it for 

their own personal gain.  

By not making the much-needed effort to police the officers of the court as 

attorneys are infamous for their lack of integrity and greed.  The trust that 

the Court has placed on them to be above integrity is unfounded and frankly 

inexcusable because if the Court does not oversee the actions taking place in 

their Court, then what service does the bench provide and what justice does 

it ensure, if the authority of the justice system has been placed willingly 

in the hands of corruption directly under their watch.   

Every victim cannot be expected to police the Court and its officers, only to 

have their motions to protect themselves dismissed from the attorneys 
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experienced ability to manipulate the law, the court and the impartiality of 

the justice system for their own personal gain and their desire to remain 

unexposed. 

The expectation of trust in the officers of the court must be governed by the 

court.  The corruption of the court has been allowed to flourish proving that 

the attorneys have clearly made the bench an unnecessary facet of the Justice 

system and used only for the authority that the bench possess to avoid 

exposure, proven by the fact that these actions have been done without fear 

of consequences by both the officers of the court and the trustee directly, 

because whatever punishment that has been ordered by the courts in the past 

at the Judge’s discretion has been too lenient thus far and not enough to 

distract any defendants or officers of the court inside of the Probate court 

from committing these deplorable crimes against the justice system, the 

trusts and the beneficiaries for personal gain.   

I pray that an example is made of the Trustee and every Officer of the Court 

that allowed the fraud on the Court, contributed to obstruction of justice, 

abused the Court or the Discovery laws or legal representatives that merely 

kept silent.  Including but not limited to the attorneys that reviewed the 

case for the beneficiary and refused to accept the case but knew about the 

fraud and obstruction of justice was occurring in the court and kept it from 

the beneficiary and the Court by not getting involved and keeping silent.   

With all of this in mind, Tawny Gage begs the court again to give great 

liberty to her in the lack of proper preparation of this motion.  My brain 

trauma condition prevents focus, the ability to communicate concisely, 

temporary memory loss and of temporary confusion during times of great 

stress, has frequent debilitating migraines that last up to two days, 

outburst of emotions, and excessive depression.  My own existence is often 

punishment enough without the responsibility to expose the clear corruption 

of the Justice system.  
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Instead, I ask the court to concentrate on the corruption happening in the 

court and instead of refusing or burying my motion as the attorneys that 

defrauded the court thus far are anticipated to do, that the Court instead 

might focus their attention on the punishment to the criminals and the needed 

investigation of the corruption that has been allowed to continue thus far 

and concentrate their efforts solely to end the corruption rather than punish 

the victim by penalizing her for not following exact protocol of the Courts.   

The way this evidence was presented to you by a brain trauma victim that made 

every effort to find appropriate legal representation to do so, should not be 

your focus. 

 

 All attorneys involved in this case, for the defendant and the plaintiff, 

are aware of all information provided in this motion and not only refused to 

alert the Court, as the Professional Code of Ethics obligates them to, but 

each contributed to the illegal acts in bad faith and with gross misconduct 

and moral turpitude and allowed and contributed to the fraud on the court.  

Extensive proof of their undeniable involvement in criminal acts will be 

available to the District Attorney and the Bar Association when the necessary 

investigation takes place as the Court is obligated to inform both offices of 

the criminal acts, conspiracy and collusion to obstruct justice while 

defrauding the Court as is documented with proof already in the courts 

possession and pointed out in this motion.   

The evidence included in this motion, are only some of the documented facts 

that directly prove the reasons the beneficiary was unable and literally 

prohibited from protecting herself in accordance with the laws of California 

due to collusion of Officers of the court.  

 

 

 



 

54 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

I pray that the court: 

1. Immediately disqualifies Pierre Rodnunsky and Allison Loevner and 

Pierre Rodnunsky and Associates from this case and punishes them on the 

record and penalize them to the extent that the law allows. 

 

2. Dismisses the case and all rulings as is required by law for successful 

disqualifications of an attorney. 

 

3. Reports Pierre Rodnunsky and Associates to the Bar Association 

including but not limited to Pierre Rodnunsky, Allison Loevner, Pete 

Grossman of Pete Grossman law firm, Matt Stidham and Neda Firouzi of 

The Legacy Lawyers who were all involved directly in the Fraud upon the 

Trust, fraud upon the beneficiary and ultimately the Fraud on the Court 

and are on record as being attorneys of record and officers of the 

Court.   

 
4. Immediately refers the case to the District Attorney to conduct a 

criminal investigation of Fraud in a conspiracy to collude in 

obstructing justice while Defrauding the Court for personal gain, 

including but not limited to Karen Roper, the attorneys and officers of 

the court, paralegals, non-attorney personnel including but not limited 

to real estate agents, escrow companies, moving companies, notaries, 

Simi Police Dept, Simi Valley city Hall and employees of the Probate 

court that may or may not have assisted, acted or colluded in any way 

to the Fraud on the court and fraud on the trust by direct involvement 

or by consent communicated by silence or who are proven to be 

participants and guilty of additional acts that colluded or 

participated in fraud on the trust, the beneficiary Tawny Gage, a 

disabled beneficiary, and The Court by either direct action with gross 
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misconduct, gross negligence and gross moral turpitude or by consent 

communicated with silence. 

   

5. A summary judgment that Immediately removes the Trustee, Karen Roper 

and the illegally hired Administrator, Pierre Rodnunsky and Associates 

from the trust and all authority held by a either party or parties that 

acted as agents of the trust. 

 

6. That the Court Conducts a forensic audit of the Trust, at Karen Roper’s 

personal expense, by a court appointed forensic auditor to find the 

extent of the crimes committed by the attorney and the Trustee to 

determine the correct amount to charged back to the Trustee, preferably 

under the direct supervision of the court or District Attorney.  

 

7. That the Court demands that ALL attorney fees illegally withdrawn 

directly from the Trust by or on behalf of Pierre Rodnunsky and 

Associates be immediately returned to the Trust either by Pierre 

Rodnunsky directly or directly paid back to the trust personally by 

Karen Roper with interest at the maximum allowed by the court. 

 
 

8. That the court demands all withdrawals by the former Trustee taken from 

the trust, if not proven a direct legal trust expense, be returned to 

the Trust immediately with the maximum amount of interest allowed by 

law.    

 

9. That the cash and gold illegally held in the tangible assets and in 

both the trustee, Karen Roper’s and the attorney, Pierre Rodnunsky’s 

possession, be immediately collected to be appropriately appraised and 
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placed in a safety deposit box held in the successor Trustees Tawny 

Gage’s supervision.   

 

10. That the Court orders the Trustee, Karen Roper and Pierre 

Rodnunsky to immediately return all Trust assets to the successor 

trustee, Tawny Gage, with required written documentation and physical 

descriptions, serial numbers and current photos of the trust assets 

accompanied with it and verified by a signed receipt by the Successor 

Trustee, Tawny Gage for each item being returned individually by the 

Trustee and the Administrator attorney whom both have documented 

valuable assets in each of their separate possession either by evidence 

in the Accounting inventory or by written documents to my personal 

attorneys and on the computer CD containing over 900 pictures, 

available to the court by request of the beneficiary Tawny Gage and 

also available by subpoena to attorney Pete Grossman who accepted the 

CD in discovery. 

 

11. That the Court allows a small distribution from the Trust to 

Tawny Gage or an amount deemed fair by the Court or collected from 

penalties directly from Karen Roper or her attorneys or by reimbursed 

fees from The Legacy Lawyers, to assist the beneficiary with the losses 

incurred from the required sale of the beneficiary’s personal property 

to fund the then unknown horrific abuse of the Courts and abuse and 

fraud to me. To pay for the extensive damages to the beneficiary’s home 

that resulted from unrepaired damage and late fees that incurred on 

hospital bills and the beneficiary’s reliance only on a fixed 

disability income, the total loss to her savings left to her by her 

father separately outside of the trust that was depended on to 

subsidize the lack of income to feed her pets and herself as well as 
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provide in times of unexpected expenses, that was requested and refused 

to the beneficiary by the Court by denying her right to a distribution 

of the trust while the court was being misinformed about the details of 

the case.  The irreparable damage to the beneficiary’s 401k and the 

loss of tax free investments in an amount of over $75,000.00 as well as 

the extensive penalties for pre-retirement withdrawal and state and 

federal tax penalties for pre-retirement age withdrawal. Additionally, 

extensive state and federal tax penalties resulting from the illegal 

act of harassment by the attorney and the trustee, Karen Roper by 

withholding my personal banking history caused during the 5 months that 

they refused to return it to me. (March 24,2017 to August 10, 2017.)  

 
12. That the Court provides or refers an attorney of integrity for 

the beneficiary to represent her interests and assist in the final 

charge backs to the trustee, the review of findings of the forensic 

audit by the court and any needed action against the trustee from her 

illegal acts or Pierre Rodnunsky’s illegal acts that occurred under 

their illegal shared trusteeship and the duties of administration of 

the trust.  Again, my exhaustive efforts to find an honest trust 

specialized attorney in Los Angeles County has been fruitless, and no 

attorney yet on record has been driven by the corruption of justice in 

our courts, the defrauding of a disabled beneficiary or the theft of 

trust assets or has yet proven to be above the corruption for their own 

personal financial gain.  

 

13. that the court punishes the trustee on the record and penalizes 

the trustee at the extent that the law allows. 

 



 

58 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

14. And finally, that the court assists in handing down punishments 

and penalties that the beneficiary is not aware of that are applicable 

in this situation to discourage further corruption of the court by 

officers of the court and to discourage trustee theft through trickery 

and manipulation of the law by the trustee and their attorneys.   

 
Bottom line, I do not know the legal procedure or the legality of praying 

anything on the court.  I cannot find a single trust attorney that will 

represent me while involved in exposing this corruption, so I am asking the 

court to assist me in handing out the appropriate punishments and penalties 

due to the guilty parties and do so at the absolute extent that the law 

allows.   

I do not know how to ask for a summary judgement or the legal way to do that, 

I don’t have the mental ability to act as an attorney or compete with the 

experienced lawyers who studied law and chose to use it to manipulate the 

court’s for their own financial benefit,so I am hoping my request is not 

necessary in this case. 

What I do know is that if the court does have the ability of finding the 

information in the documents and testimony that has already been provided to 

the court, my need to pray upon you to enforce the laws of Justice should not 

be necessary.  The officers of the court who ignored it and allowed it should 

be punished, not the disabled beneficiary who was a victim of their crimes. 

The corruption of the officers of the court has prevented justice and wasted 

years of the taxpayer’s money and the resources of the Probate court and it 

is up to you, the tribunal to stop it and not let it continue in this court. 

 

There is a need to protect our justice system and expose corruption on the 

Court, obstruction of justice by officers of the court that have allowed them 

to destroy the impartiality of the courts by colluding to prevent justice 
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while allowing them to steal from trusts as they destroy lives for personal 

financial gain. 

Officials of this court should be outraged and embarrassed and the need for 

appropriate harsh action on their part should not have to be requested, but 

there it is.    

My unqualified but clear inherent necessity to expose corruption and the 

destruction of the justice system which is currently under the control of 

criminals posing as officers of the court, should end here.   

My necessary involvement in policing the officers of the court should be 

complete at this point and the responsibility placed directly on the Probate 

Court, on the Bar Association and mostly the criminal prosecutor’s office of 

the District Attorney.   

I thank the court for the liberties given in the requirement of this motion 

and the assistance of advising what additional forms must be made.  I do not 

know how to advise the parties in this motion as every effort made to advised 

them of anything has been returned as Not within legal format or they refused 

to respond or verify the receipt.   












































































































































































































































































































